

Economic Research Service

Economic Research Service

Economic Research Report Number 293

August 2021

The Impact of Public Information on Commodity Market Performance: The Response of Corn Futures to USDA Corn Production Forecasts

Carlos Arnade, Linwood Hoffman and Anne Effland





Economic Research Service www.ers.usda.gov

Recommended citation format for this publication:

Arnade, Carlos, Linwood Hoffman and Anne Effland. August 2021. *The Impact of Public Information on Commodity Market Performance: The Response of Corn Futures to USDA Corn Production Forecasts*, ERR-293, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.



Cover photo images from Getty Images.

Use of commercial and trade names does not imply approval or constitute endorsement by USDA.

To ensure the quality of its research reports and satisfy governmentwide standards, ERS requires that all research reports with substantively new material be reviewed by qualified technical research peers. This technical peer review process, coordinated by ERS' Peer Review Coordinating Council, allows experts who possess the technical background, perspective, and expertise to provide an objective and meaningful assessment of the output's substantive content and clarity of communication during the publication's review.

In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights regulations and policies, the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and institutions participating in or administering USDA programs are prohibited from discriminating based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex, gender identity (including gender expression), sexual orientation, disability, age, marital status, family/parental status, income derived from a public assistance program, political beliefs, or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity, in any program or activity conducted or funded by USDA (not all bases apply to all programs). Remedies and complaint filing deadlines vary by program or incident.

Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program information (e.g., Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.) should contact the responsible Agency or USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339. Additionally, program information may be made available in languages other than English.

To file a program discrimination complaint, complete the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form, AD-3027, found online at How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint and at any USDA office or write a letter addressed to USDA and provide in the letter all of the information requested in the form. To request a copy of the complaint form, call (866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter to USDA by: (1) mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20250-9410; (2) fax: (202) 690-7442; or (3) email: program. intake@usda.gov.

USDA is an equal opportunity provider, employer, and lender.



Economic Research Service

Economic Research Report Number 293

August 2021

The Impact of Public Information on Commodity Market Performance: The Response of Corn Futures to USDA Corn Production Forecasts

Carlos Arnade, Linwood Hoffman and Anne Effland

Abstract

This paper examines the impact of the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) projections of annual corn output on the price of corn futures. We tested if output projections significantly drive responses to the futures market. We also tested if the accuracy of past projections influences market response to the current projections. For each month—from May (planting month) to October (harvesting month)—we estimated a system of equations representing the daily opening, closing, high-, and low-futures prices. These equations test the forecast's impacts on both price levels and daily variances. We found USDA's projection of annual corn production influenced future prices and daily variances. The projection moved the future price closer to the October harvest price, and its impact lingered for several days. We found errors in past output projections have only a small effect on the projection impacts on future prices.

Keywords: future prices, corn, corn output, corn futures, crop projections, uncertainty, USDA, *World Agricultural Supply and Demand Estimates, WASDE*, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, ERS, futures contracts, market impact.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Mark Jekanowski, Chair, USDA World Agricultural Outlook Board; Utpal Vasavada, Steven Zahniser and Andy Kerns, USDA, Economic Research Service.

Contents

Summaryiii
Introduction1
USDA's Impact: Issues that Remain To Be Addressed2
Evaluating the Impact USDA's Projections of Corn Production: What We Do
Background: USDA's Projection of Corn Production
Specifying the Model
What Equation 1 Means
Affordances of Our Approach9
Impact and Duration
Impact Versus No Impact: Possible Market Benefits9
Impact and Accuracy
Impacts, Month By Month
Impacts and Price Variability, What We Do Different10
Estimation and Results
Estimation
Testing Content and Timing
Measuring the Impact of the USDA Announcement Variable and its Duration14
Does USDA's Impact Make Future Prices a Better Predictor of the Harvest Price?
Testing If Accuracy Influences Impact16
USDA's Impacts on Daily Price Variability16
Comparing Study's Findings to Other Studies
Impact on Price Levels
Impact on Daily Variability
Conclusion
References



A report summary from the Economic Research Service

The Impact of Public Information on Commodity Market Performance: The Response of Corn Futures to USDA Corn Production Forecasts

Carlos Arnade, Linwood Hoffman and Anne Effland

What Is the Issue?

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) releases its *World Agricultural Supply and Demand Estimates* (*WASDE*) report monthly, which contains projections of numerous agricultural variables, such as expected production and stocks. Over the past five decades, various studies have tested whether publicly releasing *WASDE* reports influences an agricultural commodity's futures price. Some previous studies have found *WASDE* reports can influence the expected volatility of a commodity's futures price, and most studies agree these reports do ultimately impact a commodity's futures price. Although these findings are important, these studies often fail to identify which variables projected by USDA are

primarily responsible for futures market impacts. Currently, no study has attempted to determine how the accuracy of USDA projections can affect futures market prices. Another overlooked issue is whether USDA projections are a better or worse predictor of harvest prices for a particular commodity. This issue remains a concern for thousands of market participants using the futures price to make decisions. Finally, previously conducted studies evaluated projections from 1 or 2 specific months of the year. By doing so, these evaluations fail to relate the projections' impact to USDA's changing projections as information improves over the cropping season.

What Did the Study Find?

This study found USDA corn-output projections are a crucial variable in influencing corn futures. USDA cornproduction projections significantly impact corn futures, even when accounting for the impact of other *WASDE* projections, such as projected stocks, consumption of the commodity, and season average prices. The magnitude of the projection's impact varies across the calendar year. August and September reports have a stronger influence on prices than reports from earlier in the cropping season. Additionally, this study found USDA corn-production projections influence the market's daily variance of corn futures, represented in this report as the differences between the daily high price and daily low price.

ERS is a primary source of economic research and analysis from the U.S. Department of Agriculture, providing timely information on economic and policy issues related to agriculture, food, the environment, and rural America.



August 2021

Carlos Arnade, Linwood Hoffman and Anne Efflan



Errors in past USDA corn-output projections have had small yet statistically significant effects, which shape more recent USDA projections on corn futures prices. Notably, this study shows that USDA projections—on average—drive the futures price closer to the actual October harvest price. For example, over a 19-year period, corn futures in May are, on average, 1.01 percent closer to the harvest price than they would have been without the release of USDA's *WASDE* report. Additionally, USDA projections bring the futures price in June 4.18 percent closer to the October harvest price. In July, USDA projections have a neutral impact; in August, the projections bring corn futures 1.11 percent closer to the harvest price; and in September, the projections bring corn futures 3.56 percent closer to the harvest price.

Moreover, this report shows how the release of USDA's *WASDE* report dissimilarly influences different representations of the daily future prices. Impacts on the daily open price are distinct from the daily closing price. Notably, impacts on the daily high price are distinct from impacts on the daily low price. Finally, this study shows the USDA's influence on corn prices remains embodied in corn futures for several days after the release of USDA's *WASDE* report.

How was the Study Conducted?

Daily corn futures were regressed on several explanatory variables. Two explanatory variables were used to represent USDA projections. These included a dummy variable set equal to zero for most days of a month and one variable on the day of USDA's *WASDE* announcement. There were other variables—such as daily lags—which included a second, third, and fourth zero/one variable to test impacts over several days after the report's release.¹

The regressions estimated in this report differed from previous literature by including a second variable to represent USDA projections: USDA projected corn output. The USDA projection variable was also set equal to zero until the day of the release and was then represented by the difference between the new USDA projection and the projection issued in the previous month. For example, in testing the impact of the August projection on corn futures, we used the difference between USDA's August projection of annual corn output and the projection made in July. In effect, we tested the impact of new USDA information on corn's futures-price projections.

Data for each month were used to estimate a separate model; that is, separate models were estimated for the days in May, separate models were estimated for the days in June, and so on, through October. Creating specific monthly models is consistent with methods used in previous studies. Each of the 6 month-specific models consisted of daily data from 1999 to 2017.² We also analyzed subperiods of fewer years. By deriving the relationship between corn futures and USDA's corn output projections, we estimated which of the projections' impact makes corn futures a better or worse predictor of the October harvest price.

We also included a 3-year weighted average of output projection errors from preceding years in our model (e.g., for our 2004 observation, we used errors from 2001, 2002, and 2003). These errors represented the difference between USDA projections from the month in question and that year's actual output of corn. This setup allowed us to test if the accuracy of past errors influenced the impact that current projections have on corn futures.

Unlike earlier USDA impact studies, this study measured the difference in USDA's impact on the daily high futures price and daily low futures price to calculate USDA impacts on the variability of the daily futures price. In one trial we conducted, the model tested and measured USDA's impact on both the level of corn futures and the daily variability of corn futures.

www.ers.usda.gov

¹Two months of model data were pretested for random breaks in futures prices. In doing so, ERS found no indication that markets anticipate a *WASDE* release.

²One table in this report uses data from 1992 to 2017.

The Impact of Public Information on Commodity Market Performance: The Response of Corn Futures to USDA Corn Production Forecasts

Introduction

Throughout each year, the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) releases a monthly report called the *World Agriculture Supply and Demand Estimates* (*WASDE*). This report provides projections on numerous economic and agricultural variables, including USDA's production forecasts for a number of U.S. crops. Given the wide availability of information on the farm economy from local, State, and private sources, we want to gauge whether *WASDE* reports provide useful information to participants in agricultural markets. In our estimations, if markets react to the *WASDE* report, then its content could be considered useful. A number of studies have previously tested whether USDA projections of crop production and other agricultural data influence commodity future prices (Adjemian, 2012; Bunek and Janzen, 2015; Lehecka et al., 2014; Falk and Orazem, 1989; Fortenbery and Sumner, 1993; Sumner and Mueller, 1989; Ying et al., 2019). Most of these studies found *WASDE* reports have an immediate impact on commodity futures prices. Both Isengildina-Massa et al. (2008) and Lehecka (2014) found the financial impact of *WASDE* reports grew over time and speculated that uncertainty over USDA policy may have been a contributing factor. Recently, Ying et al. (2019) also found the impact of a variety of USDA reports has grown over time, leading to speculation that the emergence of the internet may have enhanced USDA's ability to influence commodity futures prices.

Past studies measured USDA's impact on market prices in a variety of ways to essentially test whether futures markets react to USDA's information release. Orazem and Falk (1989) developed a regression analysis of soybean futures, as influenced by USDA's August projection of soybean production. Orazem and Falk (1989) additionally addressed the more complex issue of Government revisions and rational market behavior. Adjemian (2012) measured the absolute value of the difference in corn, soybean, and wheat futures the day before and the morning after USDA's publication of *WASDE* reports. Both studies revealed the difference between futures prices was significantly larger than average differences. Using data from 1965 to 1989, Fortenbery and Sumner (1993) obtained similar results for corn and soybean futures after controlling for the existence of the options market. However, Fortenbery and Sumner found no USDA impact using monthly data for 1985–89.

Additionally, a number of studies have tested the impact of USDA forecasts on implied volatility. This volatility is a measure derived from option prices, which can serve as an indicator of expected market price volatility in futures market transactions (Adjemian et al., 2018; Bunek and Janzen, 2015; McNew and Espinosa, 1994; Isengildina-Massa et al., 2008). These studies showed USDA's crop production reports—which include forecasts and estimates, depending on the month of the year—reduced the implied volatility of corn and soybean futures prices on the day a *WASDE* report was released. Ultimately, these studies have shown USDA's release of information into the public domain reduces uncertainty about futures prices. Each of these studies has helped to address the broader issue concerning the interaction between public information and agricultural commodity markets. Overall, this research suggests widely disseminated public information can influence commodity prices.³ In particular, USDA analyses can contribute to the price discovery process.⁴ Despite the wide range of topics addressed by these studies, several matters remain unaddressed that could help USDA obtain a fuller understanding of the impact its reports have on commodity futures prices.

USDA's Impact: Issues that Remain To Be Addressed

Most preceding studies found USDA projections—also known as forecasts in the literature—can influence commodity prices. So then, what specific information within the *WASDE* report drives the reaction of futures markets? To represent USDA's forecasts, many researchers create a zero-one variable, set to equal one on the date when USDA information is publicly circulated. Researchers have used the zero-one variable as an explanatory variable in their models (Adjemian, 2012). Other researchers tested the impact of a specific forecast, such as an inventory forecast or crop production forecast. For example, Hoffman (1980) tested the impact of USDA's livestock inventory forecasts on cattle and hog prices. Milonas (1987) found that USDA production forecasts influence cash prices for several agricultural commodities. Sumner and Mueller (1989) tested the impact of USDA's production forecast on soybean and corn futures. Karali et al. (2019) and Adjemian and Arnade (2017) tested if the difference in USDA's crop forecast and previous private sector forecasts can affect the futures markets of various foreign markets.

A second question is how long does the impact of USDA forecasts last? A few studies have measured the duration of USDA's impact on futures markets. Using high frequency (i.e., capturing minute changes in price, also known as "tic") data—which can amount to more than a thousand observations per day—Lehecka et al. (2014) provided evidence that the impact of *WASDE* reporting immediately dissipates within an hour. In contrast, Ying et al. (2019) used daily data and found the impact of USDA reports can linger for several days after the *WASDE*'s release. The disparity in results suggests additional research on this topic is needed.

The third issue that remains to be addressed is whether USDA's forecasts benefit market participants. Milacek and Brorsen (2013) measured the profits that traders in corn and soybean markets would have earned if they had received advanced knowledge of USDA forecasts for ending corn and soybean stocks. In Milacek and Brorsen's (2013) article, benefits were based on a hypothetical situation rather than real-world profits—which were likely unavailable. However, just by raising the subject, Milacek and Brorsen illustrated the importance of understanding what economic impacts USDA forecasts could have on commodity market participants.

The fourth issue needing to be addressed is the relation between the accuracy of USDA forecasts and their impact on commodity prices. To our knowledge, there is no peer-reviewed research considering this relationship, although Macdonald (1992) evaluated the accuracy of USDA forecasts and found that forecast errors can vary considerably.

Finally, a fifth issue requiring a more systematic assessment is whether the market impact of the *WASDE* report changes as a crop moves from planting to harvest. Past studies evaluated various monthly forecasts that focused on a period of 2 or 3 months during and immediately prior to harvest, while other evaluations focused on impacts before planting or after harvest (Adjemian, 2012; Fortenbery and Sumner, 1993). Few studies evaluated the impacts of USDA forecasts from the first month of planting (May for corn) through the late harvest price (October for corn).

³Arguably, private sector markets are not efficient in the Fama (1970) sense if government forecasts influence that market.

⁴Price discovery plays a role in the formation of the market price.

Evaluating the Impact USDA's Projections of Corn Production: What We Do

This paper addresses each of the issues mentioned above by testing if the *WASDE* report's monthly projection of corn production (from May through October) influences the level and daily variability of the December corn futures contract. The December contract is often viewed as a predictor of the harvest season price.

Our paper makes several contributions to the literature. To partially address the first question,⁵ we tested the impact of one key variable: *WASDE*'s projection of the upcoming crop output. We compared the estimated impacts of the crop production forecast and the impacts of the commonly used zero-one variable to represent USDA announcements.⁶ To address the second question,⁷ we included both a lag of the *WASDE* release date and a lagged-dependent variable. Consequently, we estimated both the duration and magnitude of USDA production forecasts' impact on the futures price of corn. We compared the impacts of the crop production forecast on the daily opening price, daily high price, and daily low price—with the impact on the daily closing price. This comparison allowed us to determine if *WASDE* projections can influence the spread between the daily high and low prices.

To address the third question,⁸ we used the estimated impact coefficients to simulate future price changes with and without a *WASDE* announcement. This allowed us to determine if USDA projections move the futures price closer to or further from the final season harvest price, as measured by the monthly average of October futures prices. The *WASDE* report that provides a more accurate forecast can likely provide a more accurate futures price estimation as well. If USDA production forecasts move the futures price closer to the final harvest season price, market participants that rely on the futures price can make more prudent economic decisions.

Addressing the fourth issue,⁹ we tested whether the accuracy of past forecasts affects the impact of current USDA announcements. Several authors (Macdonald, 1992; Hoffman et al., 2015) have evaluated the accuracy of the *WASDE* forecasts. To our knowledge, no one has tested if more accurate forecasts enhance the impact of any USDA-released information.

Finally, to address the fifth issue,¹⁰ we evaluated the impact of USDA's monthly corn production forecast on the price level and daily price variability in a systematic fashion, from the planting month of May to the late harvest month of October.

⁵Which elements of the *WASDE* report drive market responses?

⁶The estimated impact of the zero-one variable is obtained from a separate model.

⁷How long does WASDE's impact last?

⁸Do USDA forecasts benefit market participants?

⁹What is the relation between the accuracy of USDA forecasts and their impact on commodity prices?

¹⁰Does the market impact of the *WASDE* report change as a crop moves from planting to harvest?

Background: USDA's Projection of Corn Production

Several items suggest projections of crop production is a key variable in the *WASDE* report that drive responses in the corn futures market. First, the USDA's nationwide data-gathering network gives the department an advantage over the private sector and State government agencies in collecting corn production data (across the States where corn is grown and aggregating these data to construct a national forecast). Second, McKenzie (2008) showed corn traders would be willing to pay for early access to the August crop production reports. Third, USDA imposed stricter security controls on the *WASDE* reporting process starting in 1985, once the report included U.S. crop production numbers (Fortenbery and Sumner, 1993). This indicates USDA officials believe their projections of crop production can influence markets. Finally, Karali et al. (2019) and Adjemian and Arnade (2017) found the difference between prior forecasts of corn production and USDA projections influence future prices across various commodity markets.

USDA releases projections of annual U.S. corn production each month, beginning in May, through the harvest in September and October. After October, the projections tend to be repetitions of the final production estimate with only occasional revisions. Private firms offer similar forecasts based on their own surveys, satellite imagery reports, and information gleaned from experimental plots (Milonas, 1987). Yet USDA—with access to a nationwide network of statistical, extension, and research agencies, sophisticated information technologies, and data storage systems—may be in a unique position to provide a national view of potential crop outputs.

Production forecasts are released in the *WASDE* report, which includes estimates of a wide number of economic variables (such as prices, stocks, and trade). Multiple USDA agencies work together to obtain a consensus *WASDE* forecast. Initial production forecasts in May and June rely heavily on the *Prospective Plantings* report from USDA's National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) for its survey of crop producers on the number of acres they expect to plant for the year. A USDA report on actual planted acreage becomes available at the end of June. In July, yield forecasts are combined with the number of acres planted from the NASS *Acreage* report (USDA, NASS, various years). Starting in August, NASS releases its own production forecast, which is equivalent to the *WASDE* forecast released on the same day. Throughout this process, analysts constantly update their forecasts using NASS data, weather reports, forecasting models, and satellite imagery (Vogel and Bange, 1999).

For most of the United States, May is the key month for planting corn. As a result, the production forecast released in June is often like the forecast released in May. In July, weather data that shape yield expectations become available. In August and September, harvest begins in major corn-producing regions. By October— or even September—some definitive harvest numbers are available to USDA analysts.

For this paper, we used USDA's data set of current and past *WASDE* projections (USDA, Office of Chief Economist, 1998–2017) and Chicago corn futures for the December contract (CME Group, 1998–2017). Errors represent the percentage differences (in absolute value) between the USDA forecasts and the final production numbers reported in January (table 1).¹¹ Forecast errors in May are notably higher than in October—particularly in 2004 when the corn harvest was unusually large and in the drought year of 2012. Similar errors in May and June forecasts reveal that little additional information comes in between these 2 months. There is a slightly smaller error in the July forecast than the June forecast. For most years, August errors are somewhat smaller than those of preceding months. USDA crop forecast errors decrease considerably

¹¹Crop production projections can only be based on the information available at the time. This often excludes the impact of unpredictable weather events. So differences between projections and actual harvest numbers should narrow as these events occur throughout the summer and early fall months.

in September and even more so in October for most years as well. There is little change in USDA production numbers from November through April. However, occasional revisions of the final harvest numbers are reported.

		•	on percentage di	-		
	May	June	July	Aug	Sept	Oct
1992	8.08 ¹	8.08	9.42	6.08	5.99	4.19
1993	23.49	30.70	20.71	14.15	11.17	7.05
1994	14.73	12.84	10.09	7.95	7.52	4.08
1995	14.26	7.14	5.58	10.14	6.22	2.27
1996	1.17	1.51	1.62	6.16	4.98	2.73
1997	4.88	5.13	3.64	0.89	0.98	0.51
1998	2.03	1.99	2.15	2.48	1.00	0.94
1999	0.98	0.97	1.18	0.25	1.64	0.74
2000	3.22	3.12	0.41	3.14	3.07	1.37
2001	0.31	0.31	0.53	2.92	3.22	1.21
2002	9.38	7.18	8.74	1.30	1.72	0.37
2003	2.17	2.12	0.08	2.08	3.24	0.69
2004	12.62	11.21	9.42	6.97	6.65	1.09
2005	0.43	0.43	2.24	6.18	3.57	1.58
2006	1.85	1.81	0.04	2.15	3.43	1.49
2007	5.68	5.37	2.49	0.87	1.07	1.14
2008	0.87	2.37	2.54	2.23	0.44	0.11
2009	6.87	7.63	4.88	1.24	0.26	0.75
2010	6.21	6.62	5.62	6.58	4.94	0.99
2011	8.85	7.23	9.42	4.91	1.52	1.00
2012	27.48	37.90	20.93	0.50	0.02	0.18
2013	1.07	0.12	0.28	1.61	1.04	NA ²
2014	3.39	3.28	3.80	2.61	0.08	0.47
2015	0.17	0.17	0.90	0.24	0.50	0.72
2016	5.51	5.23	4.50	0.47	0.87	1.10
2017	3.64	3.52	2.21	2.91	2.70	2.04

Table 1
U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) production forecast errors
Corn production forecast and actual production percentage difference of absolute value

¹For example, in 1992, USDA's May forecast of U.S. corn production was off that year's corn estimate by 8.08 percent. The same forecast was issued in June 1992. Only in August did the forecast of that year's production become more accurate.

²No forecast was issued in November 2013 when the Federal Government was shut down.

Source: Calculated from USDA, *World Agriculture Supply and Demand Estimates* data; USDA, Economic Research Service, corn production forecasts; and Chicago Board of Trade data.

In 1992 and 1993, the *WASDE* projections—which represent USDA forecasts—were released at 3 p.m. eastern standard time (EST) on the day of release, after the Chicago Board of Trade (CBOT) closed for the day. Starting in 1994, *WASDE* projections were released at 8:30 a.m. EST in time for the opening of the futures markets. In January 2013, the release time of the *WASDE* projections was moved to noon EST, which is after the opening of the futures market but leaves time for the report to influence prices during the remainder of the day. In our model, we account for this 2013 change by moving *WASDE* variables back 1 (observation) day in the equation representing the opening futures price.

Specifying the Model

Following the example of Orazem and Falk (1989) and Karali et al. (2019), we tested if USDA's monthly release of the corn production forecast influences corn futures. To carry out our test, we specified a system of four futures price equations, each representing a different version of the daily futures price for corn. Each equation includes the USDA production forecast as an explanatory (right-hand-side, RHS) variable, as well as the lagged futures price. Using daily data from 1999 to early 2017, we estimated a distinct model, each representing a different month from May until November. Each monthly model consists of observations on the daily futures price and is specified as:

(1)
$$Pf_{jit} = \beta_{oj} + \beta f_{ji} Pf_{jit-1} + \beta_{kji} * \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} Y_k + \tau_{ji} Vl_{it} + \sum_{r=0}^{3} \alpha_{jit-r} W_{it-r} + \sum_{r=0}^{3} \pi_{jit-r} WDM_{it-r} + \gamma_{ji} W_{ijt} u_{jik} + \epsilon_{jit}$$

where Pf_{jit} is the daily futures price *j* for month *i* and observation *t*. Observations represent daily data over *n* years. For example, observation 300 could represent the last daily reported futures price in May 2010 and observation 301, the second daily reported futures price in 2011.¹² The subscript *j*=1...4 denotes each of the four versions of the futures price, including the daily opening futures price, closing price, daily high price, and daily low price, respectively. Distinct equations are estimated for each version of the futures price. The subscript *i*=1...6 represents the months May thru October. A separate set of equations is estimated for each month of the year. Each month's model includes four futures price equations, including one for opening, one for closing, one for the daily high, and one for the daily low. Included as an explanatory variable is the one-day lag of the futures price Pf_{jit-t} is a *WASDE* content variable representing the difference between USDA's projection of corn production and its projection in the prior month. This difference is set equal to the production forecast difference on the day of the announcement and zero otherwise. WDM_{jit-t} is a zero-one dummy variable¹⁴ representing the timing of the *WASDE* announcement; otherwise, it is zero. e_{jit} represents each equation's econometric error, which is assumed to be normally distributed.

Subscripts on the *WASDE* content and *WASDE* variable are used to indicate lags. In other words, *Wit-r*, represents lags—1, 2, or 3 days—of the aforementioned *WASDE* difference and timing variables, with r=0...3 indicating the number of days that have passed since the announcement day. Preliminary model results reveal that lags beyond 3 days were not statistically significant. The lagged futures price variable and release date lags permit the calculation of long-run elasticities.

The coefficient on the constant term is β_{ij} , βf_{ji} is the coefficient on the lag futures price; β_{kji} is the coefficient on yearly dummy variable; k; τ_{ji} is the coefficient on the volume variable; a_{jit-r} is the coefficient on *WASDE*'s crop output variable; π_{jit-r} and is the coefficient on the *WASDE* crop timing variable, both with daily lags representing r=0, ...3.

Also included in the model is the term $W_{itk} * u_{ik}$ which represents an interaction term between the USDA announcement variable and u_{ik} . The variable u_{ik} is a weighted average of the absolute value of the errors of past years' projections of USDA corn production, going back 3 years. To account for memory decay, last year's crop projection error was given a weight of 0.5, 2 years ago a weight of 0.3, and 3 years ago a weight of 0.2

¹²Each first monthly reported price is reserved for the lagged-dependent variable also occurring on observation 301.

¹³The first observation of each month is dropped from the model to ensure that lagged futures price does not represent a final price from the previous year.

¹⁴The zero-one dummy variable is equal to one on the day of the *WASDE* announcement; otherwise, it is zero.

when creating the forecast error u_{ik} .¹⁵ Including this variable in our model makes it possible to test if there is a relationship between the accuracy of past USDA reports and the impact of current USDA forecasts on futures markets. The coefficient on the interaction variable for the *ith* month is $\gamma_{f,i}$ (i.e., *i*=1...6, May, June... October).

Equation 1 is used to estimate a system of four equations, each representing different versions of the futures price. Estimating distinct equations for the daily opening price, daily closing price, daily high price, and daily low price allows us to use one set of regressions to examine the impacts of the *WASDE* forecast on both prices and daily price variability. That is, differences between the forecast's impact on the daily high price and its impact on the daily low price will provide some insights on the forecast's influence on price variability within the trading day.

What Equation 1 Means

In equation 1, the USDA production variable (*W*) is set equal to zero each day of the month, except the day of the announcement—and for 3 days following the announcement when we test for lagged impacts—when the variable is replaced by *WASDE's* crop projection. The USDA timing variable is set equal to zero each day of the month and set equal to one the day and the 4 following days that represent lagged impacts of the announcement. The projected number is represented by the difference between the current projection and the USDA's projection in the previous month.¹⁶ For the first forecast month in May, this difference between projections is represented by the difference in the May projection and the previous crop year's final output, as reported in April. If the monthly difference variable is significant, it would reveal the content of USDA's projection of crop output has an impact on commodity prices. However, in some months, spillover effects from variables possibly related to the difference in *WASDE's* projected crop outputs—such as stocks—could influence USDA's estimated-impact coefficients.

It may be useful to evaluate what equation 1 means. The dependent variable is the daily futures price in a respective month for the December futures contract price. In May, the dependent variable equals the 5-month-ahead forecast for October's corn harvest price.¹⁷ On the right-hand side of the equation is a lagged futures price, representing the previous day's futures price. The projection of corn production represents the difference between the current USDA projection and its projection in the previous month. This variable equals zero except on the days of USDA's announcement. Ultimately, equation 1 implies that changes in the futures price are a function of several exogenous factors. Some of these changes include changes in USDA's projection of corn production and USDA's release date, which effectively serve as a proxy for all other variables contained in the USDA's *WASDE* report.

USDA's *WASDE* report is released on a particular day each month that varies based on the respective month. Between monthly *WASDE* reports, new information—perhaps even new crop projections—is made available from other sources in the private markets. The lagged futures price in equation 1 represents this updated information. If the futures market deems private projections of crop output relevant, it will influence or be absorbed in each day's futures price. If markets are efficient, the lagged futures price is the market's prediction

¹⁵Several other weighting schemes were experimented with. More in-depth investigation of ways to weight past errors from past *WASDE* output projections lies outside the scope of this paper.

¹⁶We estimated two sets of price equations, one with the USDA production forecast and one with the difference between USDA's current forecast and the previous month's forecast.

¹⁷USDA defines the harvest price as the average value of the December contract in the month of October. However, we also experimented with using the delivery price of the December contract as the harvest price and the average price in the last week of November—when most participants rollover to a new futures contract—as the harvest price. The results were not dramatically different across the three different harvest price definitions. In the end, we stuck with using USDA's definition of the harvest price.

of the subsequent days' futures price (Fama, 1970). Thus, contained within equation 1 is the efficient market forecast for the corn futures price.

If the coefficient on the lagged futures price is 1 and the coefficients on the other variables 0, the market is efficient. Under these circumstances, the market would have anticipated any new information contained in the *WASDE* report. However, if the *WASDE* coefficients are not 0, and/or the coefficient on the lag futures price does not equal 1, then it reveals that markets act as if USDA has information that other sources do not have. That is, equation 1 contains two sources of updated information, the lagged futures price and the monthly *WASDE* report. If both are statistically significant, then USDA can be viewed as producing a subset of new information on the day of the *WASDE* release.

Observations where the production forecast difference variable equals zero represent observations where no new information from USDA is available to the public. Yet even this may have an influence if the market's own expectations evolved since the last *WASDE* report was released. Our specification highlights two possible channels that could affect the futures price, even when no new USDA information is available.

Finally, the estimated coefficient on the lagged futures price can demonstrate how long the impact of USDA's announcement remains embodied in the futures price. This lag effect is restricted by a geometric decay. To add more flexibility in measuring the impact lags of the USDA announcement variable, daily lags of each *WASDE* variable are included in the model.¹⁸

¹⁸To handle moving the *WASDE* release to noon EST, we set the *WASDE* impact and lag variable back by one observation. The estimated coefficients on the high and low variable—on average—reveal whether the impact occurred before or after 12:30 p.m. EST.

Affordances of Our Approach

Most impact analyses of USDA forecasts use a dummy variable to represent the date of the *WASDE* report's release as an explanatory variable. Since forecasts of numerous variables are contained within this report, a dummy variable cannot identify which forecasted item influences market prices. Our specification includes both a dummy variable indicating the date of release and a variable representing the content of USDA's projection of each annual season's corn production. In other words, it represents the difference from the projection in the previous month. If this content variable is significant in a model that includes a dummy variable representing the release date, then we know the content of the projection of corn production is a key feature that influences futures prices.¹⁹

Impact and Duration

Our specification is designed to test market memory in several ways. First, we included a lagged-dependent variable. The estimated coefficient of this variable reveals how long the impact of USDA's announcement remains embodied in corn's futures price. However, this variable alone restricts the lag impacts to follow a geometric decay. Second, to allow for less restrictive lag, we also included lags of the USDA announcement variable as explanatory variables, which allows our model to have more flexibility in determining the true relationship. Third, we estimated separate equations for the daily opening, daily closing, daily high, and daily low futures prices. This allowed us to obtain evidence of whether the impact of USDA's forecast announcement declines within the trading day on which the *WASDE* report is released.

Impact Versus No Impact: Possible Market Benefits

The closer the release of the *WASDE* report moves the futures price to the final price, the greater the benefit to market participants who rely on the futures price to make decisions. After estimating monthly futures price equations, we removed USDA's impact on corn futures by setting the coefficients of the USDA variables to zero. This creates a data series representing what the futures price would be in the absence of a *WASDE* report's projection of corn production. We measured the difference between this hypothetical futures price and October's harvest price. We then compared the abilities of observed futures prices and the alternate price series—stripped of *WASDE*'s impacts—to forecast our harvest price. The difference between these two forecasts revealed the degree that USDA's crop forecast can improve or worsen the ability of the futures price to predict each season's harvest price.

In carrying out this analysis, we compared the futures price forecast accuracy with a hypothetical futures price that prevails in the absence of the *WASDE* report's production forecast. This comparison revealed the extent that the USDA forecast moved each month's futures contract prices toward (or away from) the October harvest price. Specifically, we represent each month's futures price (May through October) only over the days following the *WASDE* announcement. For example, suppose a USDA forecast was released on May 12. We compared the actual futures price (with a USDA forecast) and its fitted value (in the absence of a USDA forecast) from May 12 through the end of May. A similar procedure was applied to each month's futures price from June to October. Next, we measured how far these two versions of May's futures price are from the harvest price. We then measured how far the June price is from the harvest price, and so on until we reach October.

¹⁹There often is a mistaken belief that the ever-changing production forecast would be collinear with a constant dummy variable.

Impact and Accuracy

To analyze the impact of projection accuracy on futures prices, we created a weighted, 3-year sum of the *WASDE* report's past forecasting errors to test if the forecasts' market influence can be influenced by previous forecasting errors. We created a distinct error variable for each month. For example, we took the absolute value of the difference between USDA's May production forecast and that year's actual production level. Then, for observations representing the year 2008 in May, we created a weighted, 3-year sum of the absolute value of USDA's forecasting error for 2007 (with a weight of 0.5), 2006 (with a weight of 0.3), and 2005 (with a weight of 0.2).²⁰ The interaction of the weighted forecasting error and USDA's current production forecast served as an explanatory variable in our May model. We applied a similar procedure to each of the months. If this interaction term was significant, it would suggest the accuracy of past USDA forecasts influences the current forecasts' impact on future prices.

Impacts, Month By Month

Most USDA impact studies estimated separate models for each month to account for the dissimilar time variables for each month's forecast. For instance, May's futures price forecast is a 5-month forecast, whereas September's futures price forecast is a 1-month-ahead forecast. Incorporating all months into a single model could incorrectly amalgamate different dependent variables into one data series. We started by estimating a model using 19 years of daily data for the month of May, accounting for all years since the production forecast was first released. To confirm any differenced variable in the model did not differ across 2 separate years, we began each year with the second observation in May. Subsequently, we estimated models for the remaining months from June to October. We did not estimate models for November or December because USDA customarily does not change production forecasts for these months.²¹

Impacts and Price Variability, What We Do Different

Several preceding studies have evaluated the impact of USDA forecasts on implied futures volatility (McNew and Espinosa, 1994; Isengildina-Massa et al., 2008; Adjemian et al., 2013). Implied volatility is embodied within options contracts (Beckers, 1981; Christensen and Prabhala, 1998). Implied volatility measures the anticipated price variability, as well as the responses to unanticipated information (Fackler and King, 1990). Yet Christensen and Prabhala (1998) showed that implied volatility is often a poor predictor of realized price variability in futures markets.

Our four equation specification allows us to measure *WASDE* futures market impacts and test how *WASDE* impacts the daily price spread—or the difference from each day's high price and each day's low price. Previous studies either tested the impact on future prices or some measure of variability of future prices but never both in one study. Our study is unique because it tests both aspects within one model. As an alternative to testing impacts on implied volatility, we evaluated the impacts of the *WASDE* reports on the spread between the daily high futures price and the daily low futures price, which is a measure related to daily price variability.

To test these aspects, we first took actual futures prices with *WASDE* impacts and our hypothetical futures price stripped of *WASDE* impacts—as described in the preceding "*Impact and Duration*" section. For each series, we took the difference between the high and low price for the price series with *WASDE* impacts and

²⁰No formal criteria were used to determine weights, only that older forecast errors were weighted less. Varying weights did not appreciably change the estimated coefficients of the model.

²¹On a few occasions, there is a revised production estimate in the spring.

also for the alternate price series, which was stripped of *WASDE* impacts. We then calculated the ratio of these two differences. In table 5, we reported the measured spread ratio of these two positive differences and represented these ratios as percentages. The numerator of this ratio is the spread between the daily high and low price that has had the USDA impact removed. The denominator represents the same high-low spread of a price series that accounts for the USDA impact. For example, the number of 85.7 for June shows that without *WASDE*'s impact (on day 1), the spread between the high and low price would be 14.3 percent lower. In contrast, the August number of 117.6 shows the spread would be 17.6 percent higher without *WASDE's* impact.

The spread ratio can reveal whether the USDA announcement has increased or decreased the daily spread between the daily low and daily high prices. A ratio greater than 100 suggests that without a USDA forecast, the daily price spread would be higher.

Estimation and Results

Estimation

We used the specification in equation 1 to estimate a system of equations representing daily prices: opening, closing, high, and low. We estimated the system of equations using seemingly unrelated equations (SUR) with data from 1999 to 2017.²² We estimated the system over 2 categorical periods: 1999–2013, when USDA forecasts were released at 8:30 a.m. EST, and 2013–17, when USDA released its forecast at noon EST. We estimated separate systems for each month from May to October. The trading volume variable may be related to other RHS variables in the model, creating multicollinearity, which would distort regression statistics. To account for possible multicollinearity among the USDA forecast variables and trading volume variables, we regressed the daily trading volume on other RHS variables, including the USDA forecast variable. The error of this regression represented the impact that trading volume variables—free of any USDA influence—may have on the futures price. This ensures the RHS USDA forecast variable is not collinear with any variable. The error of the regression also allows the USDA forecast variable to account for both a direct effect on futures market prices for corn and an indirect effect arising from any influence that USDA's announcement has on trading volumes.

There were approximately 420 observations in each monthly model. With a 4-equation system and 24 exogenous variables, this combination of observations, equations, and variables creates approximately 1,584 degrees of freedom²³ for each monthly model we estimated. System R2's for every estimated monthly model above show the *WASDE* variables—such as volume variables and interaction variables—were statistically significant and belong in the model estimating the *WASDE* impact on corn futures (table 2).

To test if the release of the *WASDE* report's production forecast has an impact on corn futures, we restricted the coefficients on the *WASDE* output projection variables to be zero. We then used a likelihood ratio test (Greene, 2002) to determine the significance of this "no impact" restriction. When USDA's production forecast was represented by the difference from the previous announcement, the resulting *Chi* squared (χ^2) distributed test statistic was significant at the 0.01-confidence level for every month (except September) for both the model estimated over the entire period and the model estimated for the period 1999–2017 (table 2). Thus, we are 99 percent confident that USDA's release of a new production forecast influences corn futures prices for 5 months of the year.²⁴ For the model covering the 2013–17 subperiod—when USDA *WASDE* reports were released at noon—USDA's forecast variable was only significant in June and October.

Tests using USDA's forecasted levels of output as an explanatory variable were not reported. This variable came out significant in about a third of the conducted tests. The contrast between found test results—or the level of forecasted production versus the difference in forecasted production—implies new information in USDA forecasts influences corn futures markets.

²²Prior to estimating each monthly model, we applied unit root tests to corn futures data. Applying the most general version of the augmented Dickey-Fuller test (Greene 2002) using the opening price for each month, we rejected the null hypothesis that future prices for corn were nonstationary (had unit roots) at the 0.01 confidence level for the May, July, August, and October models. We rejected unit roots at the 0.05 confidence level for the September model. The test result for the June model was right on the boundary at the .1 confidence level. From this, it was clear each model could be estimated, with level data, without distorting estimated coefficients or test statistics.

²³Degrees of freedom can be defined as the number of independent pieces that went into estimating our model.

²⁴All lags of the USDA forecast were jointly tested. For most months, the USDA announcement was significant up to 3 days (equal to three lags) after the announcement.

Table 2 Testing select exogenous variables

			Whole period Before 2012			After 2011		
Month	Variable ¹	Degrees of freedom (Df)	χ ² (.) ²	Sig ³	χ ² (.)	Sig	χ ² (.)	Sig
May	USDA	20	38.0	0.01	53.4	0.01	6.1	NS
June	USDA	20	72.0	0.01	104.0	0.01	32.0	0.05
July	USDA	20	214.0	0.01	156.0	0.01	17.0	NS
Aug	USDA	20	40.0	0.01	61.0	0.01	21.6	NS
Sept	USDA	20	20.1	NS	20.5	NS	10.2	NS
Oct	USDA	20	43.1	0.01	67.6	0.01	44.0	0.01
		Df	χ²(.)	Sig	χ²(.)	Sig	χ²(.)	Sig
May	Inter	4	10.7	0.05	8.4	0.10	3	NS
June	Inter	4	32.0	0.01	13.6	0.01	10	0.05
July	Inter	4	26.0	0.01	25	0.01	12	0.05
Aug	Inter	4	33.1	0.01	31.2	0.01	8.4	0.10
Sept	Inter	4	3.9	NS	0.6	NS	0.4	NS
Oct	Inter	4	1.5	NS	4.0	NS	20	0.01
		Df	χ²(.)	Sig	χ²(.)	Sig	χ²(.)	Sig
May	Vlm	4	20.2	0.01	12.0	0.01	32.0	0.01
June	Vlm	4	6.6	NS	7.0	NS	6.6	NS
July	Vlm	4	16.6	0.01	22.0	0.01	16.0	0.01
Aug	Vlm	4	18.1	0.01	8.2	0.10	2.0	NS
Sept	Vlm	4	7.8	0.10	11.7	0.05	14.8	0.01
Oct	Vlm	4	7.0	NS	10.2	0.05	6.2	NS

¹U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) is the production forecast variable, VIm is the right-hand-side trading volume, and inter is the interaction term between the USDA forecast and a weighted average of the USDA (production) forecast error over the past 3 years.

 $^{2}\chi^{2}$ is a Chi sq. statistic for the log likelihood ratio test. A system of four futures price equations and the coefficients on selected variables were set equal to zero. For example, the likelihood ratio test uses the difference between the restricted and unrestricted system of equations to determine if the joint impact of all USDA production variables forecast any variables that improved the performance of the estimated system of equations (see Green, 2002).

³0.01, (0.05) significant at the 0.01 (.05) confidence level or 99 percent (95) percent confidence that variable is significant. NS stands for "not significant".

Source: Calculated from USDA, *World Agriculture Supply and Demand Estimates* data; USDA, Economic Research Service, corn production forecasts; and Chicago Board of Trade data.

Testing Content and Timing

To answer our first question,²⁵ we tested whether a model using USDA forecast differences is distinct from the more common approach of using a zero-one variable—also known as a time variable—to represent the USDA announcement (see "Impact Date Versus Content"). We estimated a model specified with both a zeroone variable—including three lags—and a forecast difference variable—also including three lags. Although both variables are zero on the date of the report's release, the time variable is always one or zero. The forecast difference variable can be any value—either positive or negative—when it does not equal zero. We tested each representation of USDA's forecast announcement by dropping tested variables in every equation. A log likelihood ratio test of the zero-one variable was not statistically significant in May and June. In July and August, the zero-one variable was significant at the 0.01 level—or the 99 percent confidence level. Additionally, in September and October, the zero-one variable was only significant at the 0.1 level—or 90 percent confident. When both USDA variables were included in the zero-one and forecast differences models, log likelihood ratio tests found forecast differences were significant at the 0.01 level—or 99 percent confidence—for every month of the growing harvest season. Interestingly, including the zero-one variable generated statistically insignificant changes to the coefficients of the forecast difference variables. These broader specification tests suggest the WASDE report's corn production forecast is a crucial variable in influencing the corn futures market. However, for some months, there are other USDA forecasts that influence futures markets.

These specification tests demonstrate how USDA's crop output projection variables apply to each monthly model. Since the *WASDE* variable was consistently significant, we focused on the model that includes the differences between USDA's projection of crop output.

Measuring the Impact of the USDA Announcement Variable and its Duration

One notable result is that an increase in the *WASDE* report's corn production forecast has a downward impact on the price of corn futures. Among all our results—within the three sets of 6-monthly models with four equations per month—corn futures fall as the production forecast rises. However, there are a few instances—particularly in the month of June—when a higher production forecast does not lead to a decline in the futures price.

Long-run elasticities estimate the cumulative effect of the *WASDE* report's corn production forecasts on futures prices (table 3). Cumulative impacts are based on coefficients on the day of the release and three lags, which answers the second question.²⁶ Three sets of monthly elasticities are reported for three periods: 1999–2017, 1999–2012, and 2013–17.²⁷ Elasticities represent the futures price response to percentage changes between the difference of each month's forecast and the previous month's forecast.²⁸ Table 3 illustrates how the impacts of corn production forecasts vary by month. Most elasticities fall within the 2–4 percent range or from -0.02 to -0.04. Over the whole period, the elasticities in September and October were considerably larger than in earlier months. For example, in October, the elasticity on the opening price was -0.134, and in September, the elasticity on the high price was -.061. This makes sense given that USDA's forecasts are more accurate in the September and October harvest months. Notably, prior to 2013, the impact of May's corn production forecast is larger than over the subsequent months. May's corn production forecast is the first one

²⁵Which elements of the WASDE report drive market responses?

²⁶How long does WASDE's impact last?

²⁷Long-run elasticities represent the sum of the USDA variable at impact and three lags and account for each day's diminishing effect through the lagged dependent variable.

²⁸An elasticity of 4 percent means that a 10-percent increase in the monthly difference of USDA's corn production forecasts lowers the price of corn by four-tenths of 1 percent.

to be issued during the year. Markets receive the first information about the potential size of that year's crop from May's forecast, which might have a more powerful effect on futures prices than subsequent forecasts.

One anomaly in the estimated elasticities concerns the June forecast. Prior to 2013, June's impact on three out of four representations of the futures price was abnormal; higher production forecasts increased the corn futures price. After 2012, June's impact had a large downward impact on three of the four corn futures prices. Most often, there is little new information concerning the corn crop between May and June. For example, before 2013, there were only 5 years in our sample when the June forecast was different from the May forecast. From 2012 onward, 2013 was the only year June's forecast was dissimilar from May's forecast. Therefore, the impact response for June is contingent on a few forecasts and could be dominated by one unique event.

The impact of USDA's corn production forecasts on different representations of the futures price varies considerably.²⁹ For example, in the months before August 2013,³⁰ the closing price elasticity equaled -0.073, and the opening price elasticity equaled -0.179. This suggests some of the continued impacts dissipate during the trading day. Additionally, the daily low price for the corn futures price impacted the price of the corn futures more so than the daily high price did. However, in September, USDA's *WASDE* forecast influenced the daily closing price almost twice as much as the forecast influences the daily opening futures price. Consequently, the *WASDE* forecast influences the daily high price more so than the daily low price in September. Overall, the results indicate USDA's production forecasts have a significant yet small impact on futures prices. Moreover, forecast impacts remain embodied within corn futures prices for several days and—at times—for several weeks before the impact of the forecasts dissipates. Notably, futures markets respond somewhat differently after 2012 since the USDA changed the time that *WASDE* reports were released from 8:30 a.m. to noon EST.

Overall, the *WASDE* impact elasticities are small yet statistically significant. One reason for this is that some of the changes in the USDA forecast may have been accounted for by the lagged futures price variable, which represents all relevant information the market received after the previous *WASDE* report. The key point is, even when accounting for private sector updating, USDA reports have an impact large enough to indicate UDSA reports contain information that the private sector does not have.

Does USDA's Impact Make Future Prices a Better Predictor of the Harvest Price?

Table 4 provides answers for our third question.³¹ The first column of table 4 reports the absolute value of the difference between each month's average futures price and the harvest season price. Averages only were taken over the remaining days of each month after the release of the *WASDE* report. Each monthly measure was then averaged across all years. Differences are reported in percentage terms. The second column of table 4 reports the same percentage differences when the impact of the corn production forecast on the futures price is removed.

A comparison of these differences, reported in the third column, shows to what extent the release of USDA's forecast improves the ability of the futures market to predict the October harvest price (table 4). For example, over an approximately 2-week period following the release of the *WASDE* report, the May futures price—on average—was 22.62 percent further from the October harvest price (table 4). The September price was 8.9 percent off the October harvest price (table 4).

²⁹A likelihood ratio test of the equation strongly rejected the restriction that impact coefficients were equal across equations (opening, close, high, and low).

³⁰Prior to 2013, the opening price was the first price to be exposed to USDA's forecast.

³¹Do USDA forecasts benefit market participants?

The second column of table 4 indicates a hypothetical price that represents what each month's forecast of the December price would have been had there been no USDA production forecast. In May, without USDA's forecast, the average futures price at closing would have been 23.63 percent off the harvest price instead of being 22.62 percent off. On average, the forecast's impact on the futures price moved May corn futures 1.01 percent closer to the harvest price.

The difference between the actual and hypothetical forecast accuracy at closing is 1.01 percent in May, 4.08 percent in June, 0.02 percent in July, 1.11 percent in August, and 3.56 percent in September (table 4). Interestingly, even though the June forecast often contains little new information beyond May, it has a bigger impact in moving prices in the direction of October's harvest prices. Overall, table 4 indicates the USDA corn production forecast improves the ability of the futures market for corn to serve as a forecasting tool and benefits market participants relying on futures prices to make decisions.

Testing If Accuracy Influences Impact

To answer our fourth question,³² we tested if the errors from past USDA forecasts influence the impact of a current USDA forecast on corn futures. Prior to 2013, the interaction term—consisting of errors from previous USDA forecasts and the current USDA announcement—indicated that May, June, July, and August models were significant at the 0.01 confidence level (table 2). However, the interaction term was not indicated as significant in the September and October models. The September and October models' statistical insignificance was due to USDA's September and October corn production forecasts often containing harvest information. Additionally, forecast errors were notably smaller for these two months. After 2012, the interaction term was significant at the 0.05 level in June and July, the 0.10 level in August, and the 0.01 level in October.

The significance of the error interaction variable suggests past forecast accuracy influences the impact that the *WASDE* report's production forecasts have on corn futures prices. However, the impact magnitude of the error interaction term on future prices was small. Elasticities reported in table 3 have incorporated the error effect on *WASDE* impact when past errors were considered. Notably—when calculating these elasticities—we found the larger the May and September forecast errors were, the more the impact of the May and October reports increased. In May, the impact of past errors was mixed. However, in August—a month when some key data from USDA becomes available to the public—large projection errors from the past projections generated significant reductions in *WASDE* report impact, which effectively reduced the *WASDE*'s opening elasticity from -0.045 to -0.019. It appears markets can tolerate errors early on in May, and the markets are less tolerant of projection errors later in August.

USDA's Impacts on Daily Price Variability

Our variability measure refers to the spread of futures prices within a trading day—also known as the spread ratio (table 5). The spread ratio represents the ratio of the absolute value of the difference between the daily high and daily low futures price. The numerator of this ratio is the spread between the hypothetical daily high and hypothetical daily low price, with the impact of the USDA projection of corn production removed from the calculations. The denominator of the measure is the same high-low spread of a price series, which includes the USDA projection's impact in the denominator spread. A ratio greater than 100 means that, without USDA's *WASDE* forecast, the daily spread between high and low prices would be higher (table 5).

The first column in table 5 represents the spread ratio on the day of the projection's release, the second averages the spread ratio over the day of release and the following day, the third averaged over the day of the

³²What is the relation between the accuracy of USDA forecasts and their impact on commodity prices?

release and the following 3 days, and the final column over 7 days after the release date. The top-third rows of table 5 report the spread ratio averaged across all years of the sample. The middle-third rows represent the spread ratio averaged over the years in the sample prior to 2013.

According to the findings in table 5, prior to 2013, USDA releasing its corn production projection increased the spread between the daily high and low price in the months of May, June, and July. Without reliable potential yield data, market participants may skeptically perceive new information. Conversely, the August and September forecasts decrease the high-low spread, resulting in a spread ratio greater than 100. Moreover, 7 out of 8 spread ratios in the months of August and September exceed 100 (table 5). By day 4, after the USDA projection release, the ratio is substantively higher than 100 (table 5). For example, in September, the 4-day average spread ratio of 111.6 means that the spread would be 11.6 percent wider in the absence of the USDA forecast. From 1999 to 2013, USDA's October forecasts reduced the daily high-low spread measure of 188.9, indicating the USDA impacts reduced the spread by 88.9 percent for the first 2 days following the forecasts. Additionally, after 8 days, the spread ratio was 124.2, indicating the release of USDA's *WASDE* report—on average—reduced the spread between the daily high and low price by 24 percent.

The spread ratios after 2012 represented in table 5 indicate a different pattern than the pre-2013 high-low spread ration findings. USDA's corn production forecasts created a similar reduction in the high-low spread in August and had an even stronger impact in September, resulting in spread ratios well over 100. In October, USDA's impact initially increased the spread. However, the 4-day and 8-day averages' impact on the high-low spread was neutral. USDA information neither creates nor reduces uncertainty. This finding may represent the impact of internet accessibly circulating corn data and crop projections. By October, markets may have absorbed information about the actual harvest from other public sources other than the USDA *WASDE* projections.

Table 3 U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) impact of futures price

Long-run elasticities ^{1,2}							
Whole period							
	Open ³	Close	High	Low	Days to delivery		
Мау	-0.020	-0.014	-0.008	-0.017	152		
June	-0.015	-0108	-0.083	-0.054	132		
July	0.003	-0.001	0.014	-0.015	11		
August	-0.045	0.000	-0.027	-0.017	89		
September	-0.032	-0.055	-0.061	-0.056	67		
October	-0.134	-0.194	-0.318	-0.209	46		
Before 2013							
	Open	Close	High	Low	Days to delivery		
Мау	-0.053	-0.040	-0.036	-0.055	152		
June	0.380	0.016	0.048	0.340	132		
July	-0.012	-0.004	0.051	-0.091	11		
August	-0.179	-0.073	-0.084	-0.156	89		
September	-0.065	-0.110	-0.117	-0.106	67		
October	-0.056	-0.100	-0.121	-0.099	46		
After 2012							
	Open	Close	High	Low	Days to delivery		
Мау	-0.010	-0.008	-0.002	0.005	152		
June	-0.014	-0.118	-0.012	-0.503	132		
July	-0.102	-0.107	-0.069	-0.122	11		
August	0.031	0.042	0.044	-0.003	89		
September	-0.012	0.187	-0.034	-0.015	67		
October	-1.345	-1.019	-2.159	2.255	46		

¹For example, in May, on average over all years, if the change in the USDA forecast rose by 100 percent (or doubled) from the previous forecast, forecast prices would decline 2 percent.

²We used repeated substitution into the lag-dependent variable, up to the final day to delivery, to generate the long-run elasticity. For every month but September and October, this was equivalent to standard long-run elasticity, represented by the impact elasticity over one minus the coefficient of the lagged-dependent variable.

³Open is the opening price; closing, daily high price, and daily low price are self-explanatory.

Source: Calculated from USDA, *World Agriculture Supply and Demand Estimates* data; USDA, Economic Research Service, corn production forecasts; and Chicago Board of Trade data.

Table 4 **Percent difference in corn futures and October harvest price** December futures contract

December futures contract

	With USDA	Without USDA	Gain in accuracy
Мау	22.62 ¹	23.63 ²	1.01 ³
June ⁴	17.33	21.51	4.18
July	12.84	12.82	-0.02
August	12.00	13.11	1.11
September	8.90	12.46	3.56

¹May corn futures, on average, are 22.62 percent different than the October harvest price in the period following the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) announcement.

²Without a USDA announcement, May corn futures, at opening, would have been 23.63 percent different than the October harvest price when averaged over the same period.

³The impact of the USDA announcement, on average, led the May futures price to be 1.01 percent closer to the October harvest price.

⁴Monthly average: from the day of the USDA announcement day until the end of the month. Each month's forecast error has been averaged over all years from 1992 to 2017.

Source: Calculated from USDA, *World Agriculture Supply and Demand Estimates* data; USDA, Economic Research Service, corn production forecasts; and Chicago Board of Trade data.

Table 5
Ratio of price spreads
Without U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) impact relative to with USDA impact ¹

1992–2017					
	Number of days since WASDE announcement				
	Day 0 ²	Day 2	Day 4	Day 8	
May	99.8	103.8	100.3	98.1	
June	85.7	100.1	88.5	97.7	
July	78.4	93.1	94.1	98.5	
August	117.6	109.1	105.6	102.6	
September	100.7	110.0	113.0	107.4	
October	126.8	176.7	138.0	120.6	
Before 2013					
Мау	80.7	94.8	96.5	98.5	
June	84.4	101.4	88.7	97.8	
July	72.0	91.0	92.4	97.9	
August	117.0 ³	108.8	106.6	102.9	
September	99.4	101.4	111.6	107.4	
October	131.6	188.9	143.5	124.2	
After 2012					
Мау	149.7	127.2	110.2	97.0	
June	92.2	98.8	87.0	97.6	
July	100.2	102.2	101.0	100.6	
August	119.1	110.1	103.0	101.5	
September	105.5	143.4	120.2	107.2	
October	89.2	90.9	100.4	100.2	

¹Spread ratio: The numerator is the absolute value of the difference between the daily high and daily low price when the impact of USDA's forecast on futures prices has been removed. The denominator is the same measure when USDA's impact on futures prices is accounted.

²Day 0 represents the spread ratio the day of the announcement; day 2 represents the spread ratio averaged over the announcement day and following day; day 4 is averaged over announcement day and 3 days after the announcement; and day 8 is averaged over announcement day and 7 days after the announcement.

³For example, the ratio of 117.6—August on day 0—means the spread between the daily high and daily low price would be 17.6 percent higher without USDA's announcement. In contrast, a ratio of 85.7 means that the USDA announcement increases the spread by 14.3 percent.

Source: Calculated from USDA, Economic Research Service (ERS) calculations using USDA, *World Agricultural Supply and Demand Estimates* data; USDA, Economic Research Service, corn production forecasts; and Chicago Board of Trade data.

Comparing Study's Findings to Other Studies

Impact on Price Levels

Orazem and Falk's (1989) estimated elasticity of soybean futures' reaction to USDA August production forecasts was -0.08. Orazem and Falk's finding was similar to our estimation for July's daily low price and August's daily closing and daily high price for corn futures before 2013. Our September and October elasticities were slightly higher. Using data from 1965 to 1989, Fortenbery and Sumner (1993) found the price reaction to the *WASDE* report release was significant. However, zeroing in on monthly data from December through July over the period 1985–99, Fortenbery and Sumner (1993) did not find evidence of a significant price reaction to the USDA forecast release. The authors argued that by 1985, market participants might have become sufficiently aware to anticipate USDA's forecast, thus implying markets had become efficient in the Fama (1970) sense. Yet, our 1992–2017 data indicate there is hardly any change in USDA's corn production forecasts from November through April. This lack of variation over these months may explain why Fortenbery and Sumner's post-1985 findings differed from our price response estimates.

Adjemian (2012) tested USDA's impact on the difference between the closing futures price the day before the *WASDE* report's release and the opening price the day afterward. Although Adjemian calls this a variance measure, it is actually a measure of the report's impact on futures prices. Like Adjemian, we found USDA forecasts impact futures markets. In his empirical analysis, Adjemian used a dummy variable to indicate the *WASDE* report's release date and did not distinguish between new and old information. When using a dummy variable to represent the release date, we found the forecasts occasionally influenced the futures price. However, when we represented the forecasts by the difference between the current month's forecast and the previous month's forecast, we found a consistent and significant impact on futures prices. Similarly, Karali et al. (2019) found corn futures react to the difference between USDA's production forecast and the latest private sector forecast, particularly in October and November. Adjemian and Arnade (2017) previously studied the market effects of this difference and found it impacted several foreign markets as well. Similarly, Adjemian and Arnade consistently found a strong market reaction to this difference in October.

Using high frequency (or "tic") data, which produced thousands of observations each trading day, Lehecka et al. (2014) found evidence of the USDA's production forecast impact on future prices immediately dissipates. However, in our study, we found—in some cases—a 3-day lag of the announcement variable was significant. Estimated coefficients of the lagged dependent variable in our futures equations revealed the impact of the forecast's release affected the futures price for up to a week. This finding is similar to the lagged response found by Yin et al. (2019). By using a lagged dependent variable, we found USDA's corn production forecast continued with a small but discernable impact for 10 to 14 days after the forecast's release.

Impact on Daily Variability

We found the corn projection's release significantly reduces the difference between the daily high price and daily low price in the early harvest months of August and September. Our September and October results align with McNew and Espinosa's (1994) findings. McNew and Espinosa (1994)—focused on September and October—found implied volatility declined up to 4 days after the release date. Our results are also consistent with Isengildina-Massa et al. (2008), who found frequent drops in implied volatility for September and October. Notably, our results align with studies that used a very different measure of variability, yet our results also indicate the forecasts released in September and October reduce market uncertainty as well as the variability of futures prices.

Conclusion

Many studies have found the futures market responds to USDA's release of agricultural forecasts into the public domain, as published in the monthly *WASDE* report. However, USDA's ability to provide the market with unique information is arguable as alternative information sources have become available on the internet. Using data from 1998 to 2017, we evaluated the impact of USDA's corn production projection release on the price of corn futures. Corn production takes place in multiple States across the country, and USDA analysts have unique access to information from every corn producing State in the United States.

Overall, we found USDA's projection of corn production influences the futures price of corn. We found, in general, the larger the change in the projected corn harvest, the more the futures price falls. However, the impact was small. Long-run impact elasticities tend to be in the range of -0.02 to -0.04. These long-run elasticities mean it would require a 100-percent increase in the production forecast's change to reduce the futures price by 2 to 4 percent. We also found projections released in August, September, and October reduce the daily variability of corn futures prices—or a measure of market uncertainty—while the forecasts issued in May, June, and July had a less defined impact on daily variability.

Our study expands the literature in several ways. First, we tested whether USDA's projection of corn production can influence four distinct versions of the daily futures price: at opening, at closing, the high price, and the low price. We found significant differences regarding impacts on each version of the futures price. Second, we tested whether the level of the projection or the difference between the current USDA projection and the previous projection has a greater impact on corn futures. We found forecast differences consistently influence the futures price but that forecast levels only occasionally influence the futures price. Thus, futures markets do indeed respond to new USDA information. Additionally, we found that a model, including a zero-one variable to represent the date when USDA releases its forecast, generates similar results to a model that also includes differences in USDA's corn production projections. This result indicates the content of USDA's projections of corn production can influence the price of corn futures.

Third, we tested whether the accuracy of past USDA corn production projections influences the impact that current USDA projections have on futures markets. Test results revealed that for most months the accuracy of these forecasts enhances the forecasts' impact in August. Therefore, the smaller past *WASDE* corn projection errors are, the more (future prices) react to current *WASDE* crop projections for this key month. However, these forecast errors from the May report increased the impact of the May report on corn futures prices. This may be because markets expect the May projections to be less accurate than reports later in the season because May is a key planting month. Other monthly report errors have a mixed impact on corn futures. This may be because USDA's corn production projections do not contain systematic errors; years of overly high projections are often followed by overly low ones.

Fourth, we compared the price of corn futures after the release of the forecast to the price that corn futures could hypothetically be without releasing USDA crop projections. We found the monthly release of USDA's forecast moved the futures price closer to the harvest season price of corn, thereby improving the futures price as a forecasting tool and aiding market participants who rely on futures prices for making decisions. Using lags, we found the impact of the USDA forecast remains embodied in the futures prices for approximately 10 to 14 days.

Although we address various issues regarding USDA corn production projections, several issues remain to be addressed. One issue is the relationship between USDA's ability to influence the market price over time and the integration of the internet as an informational tool into agriculture and market projections. Second, it could be beneficial to examine the interaction between past USDA forecast errors and the impacts of

current USDA forecasts. For instance, testing various methods of measuring past errors could be insightful by determining whether positive forecast errors have different effects than negative forecast errors. Third, similar studies could include other key crops like soybeans or wheat to test the impact of other key variables in the *WASDE* report, such as stocks. Finally, future studies could consider the impact of the release of USDA information outside of the *WASDE* report, such as the *Prospective Plantings* report issued in March by USDA's National Agricultural Statistical Service (NASS). The findings of this study can aid policymakers to better understand the role that USDA plays in influencing the corn futures, and it allows market participants to better understand how USDA forecasts influence prices in the futures market. This, in turn, may influence how traders view USDA forecasts.

References

- Adjemian, M.K. 2012. "Quantifying the WASDE Announcement Effect," *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 94(1):238–256. 2012.
- Adjemian, M.K. and C. Arnade, 2017. Not Lost in Translation. The Impact of USDA Reports on International Corn Markets. Poster presented at the American Agricultural Economics Meetings, Chicago, Illinois.
- Adjemian, M.K.; R. Johansson; A. McKenzie; and M. Thomsen. 2018. "Was the Missing 2013 WASDE Missed?" Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy 40(4):653–671. 2018.
- Beckers, S. 1981. "Standard deviations implied in option prices as predictors of future stock price variability." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 5(3):363–381. 1981.
- Bunek, G. and J. Janzen. 2015. Characterizing the Effect of USDA Report Announcements in the Winter Wheat Futures Market Using Realized Volatility. Presented at the NCCC-134 Conference on Applied Commodity Price Analysis, Forecasting, and Market Risk Management, St. Louis, MO, April 20–21.
- Christensen, B. and N. Prabhala. 1998. "The Relation Between Implied and Realized Volatility." *Journal of Financial Economics* 50:125–150. 1998.
- CME Group. 2017. "Future Price No. 2 Yellow Corn, December Contract." (Accessed 2017).
- Fackler, P. L. and R. P. King. 1990. "The Calibration of Option Based Probability Forecasts for Agricultural Commodity Prices." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 72: 73–83. 1990.
- Falk, B., and P. Orazem. 1989. *A Theory of Future's Market Responses to Government Crop Forecasts*. Iowa State University, Department of Economics, Unpublished Staff Paper No. 150.
- Fama, E. 1970. "Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work." *Journal of Finance* 25(2):383–417. 1970.
- Fortenbery T. and D. Sumner. 1993. "The Effects of USDA Reports in Futures and Options Markets." *The Journal of Futures Markets* 13(2):157–173. 1993.
- Greene, W. 2002. Econometrics Analysis. New York: MacMillan Publishing Company.
- Hoffman, G. 1980. "The Effect of Quarterly Livestock Reports on Cattle and Hog Prices." North Central Journal of Agricultural Econometrics 2(2):145–150. 1980.
- Hoffman. L., X. Etienne, S. Irwin, E. Colino, and J. Toasa. 2015. "Forecast Performance of WASDE Price Projections for U.S. Corn" *Agricultural Economics* (46):157–171. 2015.
- Isengildina-Massa O., S. Irwin, D. Good, and J. Gomez. 2008) "The Impact of WASDE Reports on Implied Volatility in Corn and Soybean Markets" *Agribusiness: An International Journal* 24(4):473–490. 2008.
- "Investopedia." Dotdash publishing family. (Accessed 2019).
- Karali, B., O. Isengildina-Massa, S. Irwin, M. Adjemian, and R. Johansson. 2019. "Are USDA Reports Still News to Changing Crop Markets?" *Food Policy* 84(1):66–76. 2019.

- Lehecka, G., X. Wang, and P. Garcia. 2014. "Gone in Ten Minutes: Intraday Evidence of Announcement Effects in the Electronic Corn Futures Market." *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy* 36(3):504–526. 2014.
- MacDonald, S. 1992. *The Accuracy of USDA's Export Forecasts*. Economic Research Service Staff Report No. Ages 9224.
- McKenzie, A. 2008. "Pre-Harvest Price Expectations for Corn: The Information Content of USDA Reports and New Crop Futures." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 90(2):351–366. 2008.
- Milonas, N. 1987. "The Effects of USDA Crop Announcements on Commodity Prices." *The Journal of Futures Markets* 7(5):571–589. 1987.
- McNew, K. and J. Espinosa. 1994. "The Informational Content of USDA Crop Reports: Impacts on Uncertainty and Expectations in Grain Futures Markets." *Journal of Futures Markets* 14(4): 475–492. 1994.
- Milacek T. and W. Brorsen. 2013. *How Much Would It Be Worth to Know the WASDE Report in Advance?* Proceedings of the NCCC-134 Conference on Applied Commodity Price Analysis, Forecasting, and Market Risk Management. St. Louis, MO.
- Sumner, D. A. and R.A.E Mueller. (1989). "Are harvest forecasts news? USDA Announcements and Futures Market Reactions." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 71:1–8. 1989.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office of the Chief Economist, World Agricultural Outlook Board. 1992–2017. *World Agriculture Supply and Demand Estimates (WASDE)*. Various issues.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. National Agricultural Statistics Service (USDA, NASS), 1998–2017. World Agriculture Statistics Board, *Prospective Plantings*. Various Issues.
- Vogel F. and G. Bange. 1999. *Understand Crop Forecasts*. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Miscellaneous Publication No. 1554.
- Ying, C., Y. Chen, and J.H. Dorfman. 2019. "Flexible Tests for USDA Report Announcement Effects in Futures Markets." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 101(4):1228–1246. 2019.